THE EFFECTS OF ENDURANCE EXERCISE TRAINING ON ADIPOSE TISSUE METABOLISM

KATHRYN ELLEN PISTOR

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY AND HEALTH SCIENCE YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO

July 2012

© Kathryn Pistor, 2012



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-91763-3

Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-91763-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distrbute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protege cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

Chronic exercise training is a common approach utilized to optimize health and prevent disease. While the beneficial physiological adaptations to long term exercise are well established in many systems such as skeletal muscle, the specific alterations that occur in adipose tissue under this condition are less clear. With conflicting results presented in the literature, this study set out to clarify the effects of chronic exercise on adipose tissue lipolysis and lipogenesis in both a visceral and subcutaneous fat depot. Six weeks of exercise training by treadmill running resulted in a significant 26% reduction in isoproterenol stimulated lipolysis in both epididymal and inguinal adipocytes of male Wistar rats. Attempts to elucidate the mechanism underlying this adaptation were unsuccessful but determined that ATGL, CGI-58, perilipin and HSL are likely not responsible. Exercise training also led to a reduction in fat mass that was accompanied by lower triglyceride synthesis.

DEDICATION

For my mom, Flavia Del Bel Belluz, who always approached life's challenges with patience, persistence and courage. Your example has been my inspiration throughout this thesis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Rolando Ceddia: I am so grateful to have had the opportunity to learn from such a talented scientist. The dedication and enthusiasm you approach your work with is unparalleled and is an inspiration. Thank you for your continuous advice, guidance and patience over the last two years, it has been invaluable.

Dr. Pinky Galdhu: You have not only been an incredible mentor but a great friend. I really value the time you invested in teaching me how to be a "phat lady", my time at York would not have been the same without you. Thank you for your advice and never ending encouragement, it extends far beyond the lab.

Steven Hung: My team extreme partner in science! Thank you for all of your hard work and dedication to our project, I truly could not have finished this without you. Your support and humor throughout our time in the lab really made this such a positive experience.

Past and present members of the Ceddia Lab: Fawad Noor, Dr. Robert Perry, Sanaz Baradaran, Kaio Vitzel and Dr. George Bikopoulos. It has been great to work with all of you, thank you for all of your help.

My supervisory committee: Dr. Michael Connor, Dr. Jennifer Kuk, and Dr. Andrew Donini. Your input has been valuable in this process.

All of my family and friends, especially **Giuliana Paniccia**, **Niceta Pistor**, **Andrew Pistor**, **Dan Pistor** and **Chris Theriau**. Your unconditional love and support throughout this thesis and beyond has been a blessing. I would not have made it through without all of you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures and Tables	vii
List of Acronyms	viii
1. Introduction	1
2. Literature Review	3
2.1. White adipose tissue (WAT)	3
2.2. Lipogenesis	3
2.2.1. Glyceride-glycerol precursors	5
2.2.2. Sources of FA for TG synthesis	7
2.2.2.1. Lipoprotein derived FAs	7
2.2.2.2. Fatty acid re-esterification	8
2.2.2.3. <i>De novo</i> lipogenesis	9
2.3. Lipolysis	10
2.3.1. Hormonal regulation of lipolysis	10
2.3.1.1. Catecholamines	12
2.3.1.2. Insulin	13
2.3.2. Molecular basis of lipolysis	13
2.3.2.1. ATGL	14
2.3.2.2. HSL	15
2.3.2.3. Perilipin	16
2.4. Regional differences in adipose tissue metabolism	17
2.5. Exercise training and WAT metabolism	19
3. Objectives and Hypotheses	23
4. Materiais and Methods	24
4.1. Reagents	24
4.2. Animals	24

	4.3. Acclimatization, selection and exercise training process	24
	4.4. Plasma analysis	25
	4.5. Experimental protocol and adipocyte isolation	26
	4.6. Assessment of adipose tissue morphology	27
	4.7. Determination of lipolysis	28
	4.8. Incorporation of [U-14C]D-glucose into TGs	29
	4.9. Determination of protein content and phosphorylation	29
	4.10. Statistical analysis	31
5. Re	esults	32
	5.1. Effects of chronic endurance training on peak VO ₂ and adiposity	32
	5.2. Effects of chronic endurance training on adipose tissue morphology	34
	5.3. Effects of chronic training on the response to submaximal exercise	38
	5.4. Effects of chronic training on lipolysis in isolated adipocytes	40
	5.5. Assessment of molecular mechanisms regulating adipocyte lipolysis	42
	5.6. Glucose incorporation into TG	45
6. Di	scussion	48
	6.1. Chronic training effects on adipose tissue lipolysis	48
	6.2. Mechanisms governing training induced adaptations in lipolysis	50
	6.3. Exercise mediated changes in adiposity	54
7. Co	onclusions	56
8. Fu	iture Directions	58
	8.1. Analysis of molecular mechanisms regulating lipolysis	58
	8.2. Analysis of mechanisms regulating lipogenesis	59
9. Re	eferences	61
10. A	Appendices	71
	10.1. Appendix A: Exercise protocol for animal selection	71
	10.2. Appendix B: Six week treadmill exercise protocol	72

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

- Figure 1: Schematic overview of triglyceride synthesis
- Figure 2: Schematic of the lipolytic cascade
- Figure 3: Peak VO₂ comparison after six weeks of exercise training
- Figure 4: Time course analysis of resting plasma corticosterone
- Figure 5: Time course analysis of body weight and food intake
- Figure 6: Comparison of adiposity in epididymal and inguinal depots
- Figure 7: Image of Hemotoxylin and Eosin stained adipocytes
- Figure 8: Adipocyte cell diameter comparison
- Figure 9: Submaximal exercise speed with plasma NEFA and catecholamine concentrations
- Figure 10: Isoproterenol stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes
- Figure 11: Forskolin stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes
- Figure12: Evaluation of ATGL and CGI-58 content in adipose tissue homogenates
- Figure 13: Evaluation of perilipin content and phosphorylation at Ser517
- Figure 14: Evaluation of HSL content and phosphorylation in isoproterenol stimulated adipocytes
- Figure 15: Evaluation of HSL content and phosphorylation in forskolin stimulated adipocytes
- Figure 16: Incorporation of glucose into triglycerides under basal and insulin stimulated conditions
- Table 1:
 Summary of observations in adipose tissue after exercise training
- Table A1:
 Exercise protocol for animal selection
- Table A2:
 Six week treadmill exercise protocol

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AC	Adenylate cyclase
ACC1	Acetyl CoA carboxylase 1
ACS-1	Acyl-CoA Synthetase isoform 1
AGPAT	1-acyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
AR	Adrenergic receptor
ATGL	Adipose triglyceride lipase
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CGI-58	Comparative gene identification-58
СМ	Chylomicron
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DGAT	Diacylglycerol acyltransferate
DHAP	Dihydroxyacetone phosphate
DNL	<i>De novo</i> lipogenesis
FA	Fatty acid
FA-CoA	Fatty acyl-CoA molecules
FAS	Fatty acid synthase
FAT/CD36	Fatty acid translocase/CD36
FATP	Fatty acid transport protein
FATP1	Fatty acid transport protein-1
G3P	Glycerol-3-phosphate
G3PD	Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
G6P	Glucose-6-phosphate
Gi	G-inhibitory protein
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GPAT	Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases
Gs	G-stimulatory protein

H&E	Hemotoxylin and Eosin
HSL	Hormone sensitive lipase
LCFA	Long chain fatty acid
LD	Lipid droplet
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
MAG	Monoacylglycerol
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acid
OA	Oxaloacetate
PA	Phosphatidic acid
PDE3B	Phosphodiesterase 3B
PEP	Phosphoenolpyruvate
PEPCK	Phosphoenolphruvate carboxykinase
РІЗК	Phosphoinsoitide 3 kinase
РКА	Protein kinase A
PLIN	Perilipin
PM	Plasma membrane
PPH-1	Phosphatidate phosphohydrolase
SC	Subcutaneous
TAG	Triacylglyerol
TG	Triglyceride
VC	Visceral
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

1. INTRODUCTION

The primary role of white adipose tissue (WAT) is to act as an energy reservoir, storing and releasing substrate under conditions of positive and negative energy balance, respectively. This function is of particular importance for maintaining energy homeostasis when the system is challenged, such as when increased substrate is required during an exercise bout. Under this condition, it has been well documented that adjpocytes are capable of adapting their metabolism to meet exercise imposed increases in energy demand (1). In fact, the release of fatty acid (FA) by the adipose tissue during acute exercise has been shown to far exceed what is required by peripheral tissues for oxidation (1). Over the long term, repeated bouts of exercise leads to adaptations in peripheral substrate requirements. More specifically, chronic training induces a shift towards greater FA utilization by skeletal muscle (2, 3). Therefore, with chronic exercise additional adaptations in the organism are required in order to better match the supply of substrate with changing metabolic demands. Many studies report that in the trained state, adipocyte mobilization of triglyceride (TG) stores is enhanced to supply the increased proportion of FA oxidized by working muscles (4-6). In this circumstance enhanced lipolysis seems reasonable; however, another well established training adaptation in skeletal muscle is that it increases oxidation of its own intrinsic fat stores with a proportionate reduction in reliance on adipose tissue FA (4, 5, 7). In this context, enhanced lipolysis by

adipose tissue seems counterintuitive given that training would reduce requirements for plasma fatty acids that are already liberated in excess of what is required by the periphery. In line with this evidence, other research has reported adipose tissue lipolysis to be reduced in the trained state (8). The mechanisms by which these various reported changes in lipolysis occur remains unclear.

Another important adaptation to exercise training is a reduction in adiposity. Whether this results from an enhanced mobilization of adipose tissue TG stores that are subsequently utilized by peripheral tissues or a reduced ability of adipocytes to synthesize and store TG is not clear. In either case, understanding how training modifies adipose tissue metabolism to facilitate changes in adiposity is relevant for the treatment of disease because accumulation of adipose tissue has been correlated with the development of chronic illness (9, 10).

With inconsistencies pertaining to training induced alterations in adipose tissue metabolism, this study was designed to identify how a chronic exercise program effects adipocyte lipolysis and lipogenesis. Since physiological changes arising from chronic exercise have been shown to confer health benefits, molecular mechanisms governing training induced adaptations in adipose tissue will be explored. Identification of regulatory mechanisms improving adipose tissue metabolism may be of therapeutic relevance for the maintenance of health or correction of disease.

2

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 White adipose tissue (WAT)

The WAT plays an important role in the maintenance of whole-body energy homeostasis by functioning as a major energy reservoir capable of storing and releasing energy substrate (11). WAT is also an endocrine organ with the ability to secrete bioactive molecules (adipokines) that regulate many physiological processes throughout the body (11, 12). The WAT is primarily composed of adipocytes, spherical cells with a large central lipid droplet containing a TG core surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer. Adipocytes can range from 20 to 160 µm in diameter depending on the size of the lipid droplet and thus the amount of TG stored in it (13). TG pools within the adipocytes are continuously undergoing TG hydrolysis (lipolysis) and fatty acid (FA) esterification (TG synthesis) simultaneously, with the net flux of substrate regulated according to the nutritional status of the system (14). Overall, adipocytes are equipped with machinery to perform the primary functions of storing and releasing substrate under conditions of energy surplus and increased demand, respectively (15).

2.2 Lipogenesis

When energy intake exceeds expenditure, as is seen in a post-prandial state, excess substrates are taken up by adipocytes and stored as TG through a process known as lipogenesis (Figure 1). Briefly, non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA)



Figure 1. Overview of TG synthesis in the adipocyte as adapted from (15). Glucose uptake is stimulated by insulin dependent GLUT 4 translocation to the plasma membrane (PM). Glucose is converted to dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) by glycolysis and finally to glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P) by glycerol-3phosphate dehydrogenase (G3PD) to form the backbone of the TG. G3P can also be generated from precursor molecules such as pyruvate through the process of glyceroneogenesis by phosphoenolphruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK). NEFA utilized for TG synthesis can be derived from 3 sources: 1) hydrolysis of lipoproteins by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) 2) conversion of glucose to long chain fatty acids (LCFA) by de novo lipogenesis (DNL) and 3) liberation of FA from intracellular TG stores through lipolysis. NEFAs generated from these sources are activated via acylation by acyl-CoA synthetase isoform 1 (ACS-1) to produce molecules of fatty acyl-CoA (FA-CoA) and esterified to G3P to form TG. The initial FA-CoA is esterified to G3P by glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases (GPAT) producing lysophosphatidic acid (LPA). In turn, LPA is acylated by 1-acylsn-glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases (AGPAT) producing phosphatidic acid (PA). Hydrolysis of PA by phosphatidate phosphohydrolase (PPH-1) leads to the production of diacylglycerol (DAG), which is subsequently acted upon by diacylglycerol acyltransferate (DGAT) to esterify the final FA-CoA. The newly formed TG merges with the central lipid droplet (LD).

originating from a number of sources are acylated in the cytoplasm by ACS-1 (16). Three FA-CoA molecules are then esterified sequentially to a G3P molecule derived via glyceroneogenesis or glycolysis (17). The initial FA-CoA is esterified to G3P by GPAT producing LPA (16, 18). LPA in turn undergoes acylation by AGPAT producing PA (18). Hydrolysis of PA by PPH-1 then generates the TG precursor DAG, which is subsequently acted upon by DGAT to esterify the third and final NEFA (16). The newly formed TG merges with the central LD. TG storage by the WAT is very important for NEFA and glucose clearance from the blood, as high plasma concentrations of these substrates may disrupt glucose and lipid homeostasis (11). Under a state of chronic positive energy balance, the increased flux of substrate through the lipogenesis pathway can lead to excessive expansion of WAT mass also increasing the risk of developing dysfunctional metabolic alterations as seen in obesity (19).

2.2.1. Glyceride-glycerol precursors

Due to a lack of significant glycerol kinase activity (20,21), adipocytes cannot phosphorylate free glycerol to produce G3P for direct use in FA esterification and TG synthesis (22). In this context, esterification of NEFAs in adipocytes requires the formation of G3P from other precursors to produce the glycerol backbone of the TG molecule. The inability of the adipocyte to utilize free glycerol for TG synthesis is an important metabolic feature as it prevents the immediate re-synthesis of TGs from substrates intended for peripheral tissues released by the cell through lipolysis (23). A large amount of G3P is produced from the conversion of glucose via the glycolytic pathway. In this process, insulin acts as a key regulatory hormone that stimulates GLUT 4 translocation to the PM subsequently increasing glucose uptake into the adipocyte by approximately 30fold as compared to non-insulin stimulated conditions (24). Once inside the cell, alucose is phosphorylated by hexokinase producing glucose 6-phosphate (G6P). preventing it from exiting the cell (24). G6P is then sequentially converted into intermediary molecules that ultimately undergo a reduction reaction by G3PD producing G3P from DHAP (24). G3P can then be utilized to esterify incoming fatty acids and be stored as a TG. Other intermediary molecules such as pyruvate and lactate can also be used to generate G3P in the adipocyte through glyceroneogenesis (25). Briefly, oxaloacetate (OA) is produced from glyceroneogenic precursors (pyruvate and lactate) and then converted into phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) by the enzyme PEPCK (26). Through additional reactions, PEP is converted to DHAP and finally to G3P (26). Glyceroneogenesis is particularly important in glyceride-glycerol production during conditions where glucose is limited or insulin levels are low (fasting/exercise) because uptake of glucose for G3P production is reduced (27). In fact, in the epididymal fat pads of carbohydrate restricted rats more than 80% of the glyceride-glycerol utilized for TG synthesis has been reported to be produced via glyceroneogenesis (28).

2.2.2. Sources of FA for TG synthesis

The majority of FA utilized by adipose tissue for TG synthesis is derived from the plasma by the hydrolysis of circulating lipoproteins or uptake of unutilized albumin bound NEFA, endogenously generated by adipocyte lipolysis (29). FAs can also be synthesized by the adipocyte intracellularly from glucose through a process termed *de novo* lipogenesis (29).

2.2.2.1. Lipoprotein derived FA

Lipoproteins are lipid-rich particles that travel through the circulation to deliver FAs to peripheral tissues (30). A proportion of the FA stored by the adipose tissue comes from the hydrolysis of TG in lipoproteins such as chylomicrons (CM) and very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) (29). CM are composed mainly of exogenous TG and are packaged by enterocytes after intestinal absorption of dietary fats (30). Post-prandially, CM TG is the dominant source of FA (29,31) but the presence of this lipoprotein is short lived as it is only available after a meal (32). VLDL is an endogenous TG containing lipoprotein that is produced by the liver (30). The provision of FA by VLDL predominates during the post-absorptive state, when CM are typically not available (29). The hydrolysis of lipoprotein TG for FA storage in adipocytes is dependent on adipose tissue LPL. LPL is a glycoprotein enzyme secreted by the adipocytes and transported to the luminal surface of capillaries where it anchors to epithelial cells

(33). In the capillary, LPL cleaves lipoprotein TG releasing FAs that can be taken up into adipocytes via diffusion across the plasma membrane or by fatty acid transport proteins (FATP) such as fatty acid translocase/CD36 (FAT/CD36) and fatty acid transport protein-1 (FATP1) (32, 34, 35). LPL is an important enzyme for lipogenesis as *in vitro* models have demonstrated an 80% reduction in fat storage when LPL expression is reduced by 50% (32). Similarly, defective FATP impair the ability of adipocytes to take up FA for storage. This can result in accumulation of fat in the plasma as is evident in spontaneously hypertensive rats, which have CD36 deficiency that leads to hypertriglyceridemia (36).

2.2.2.2. Fatty acid re-esterification

NEFAs can also become available by the hydrolysis of intracellular adipocyte TG pools through a well-regulated process known as lipolysis. Lipolysis results in the release of FAs into the circulation for utilization by peripheral tissues. Those unutilized FAs (~40%) of the total released by the adipocytes, return to the WAT to be re-esterified back into TG (37). The "futile cycle" (38) of TG release and re-esterification plays an important role in allowing the adipose tissue to respond to rapid changes in whole body energy metabolism (1, 39). For example, Wolfe and colleagues showed that a reduction in the rate of re-esterification (~45%) that accompanied the first 30 minutes of an exercise session in men effectively doubled the NEFA availability to working muscles (1).

In the same study, the cessation of exercise elicited a sharp increase in the rate of re-esterification, preventing an elevation in plasma NEFAs beyond the carrying capacity of albumin (1). This is important because immediately post-exercise, lipolysis remains elevated even though skeletal muscles require less FA for oxidation (1), increasing the potential for hazardous accumulation of FA in the plasma. While the futile cycle plays an essential role in regulating FA homeostasis, the energy cost of re-esterification is considerably large for a single biochemical pathway (37, 40) requiring approximately 7-9 ATP for the production of every TG molecule (41).

2.2.2.3. De novo lipogenesis

NEFAs are also constructed by the adipocyte through *de novo* lipogenesis (DNL), a process which utilizes glucose to produce LCFA in the cell (42). In this metabolic pathway, glucose is ultimately converted to citrate through glycolysis and the Kreb cycle, which then exits the mitochondria to be cleaved into OA and acetyl CoA by ATP citrate lyase (27). Acetyl CoA carboxylase 1 (ACC1) then converts acetyl CoA to malonyl CoA (24). Fatty Acid Synthase (FAS), a multienzyme complex, subsequently joins an acetyl CoA molecule to malonyl CoA to produce a 4 carbon structure (24, 43). FAS then sequentially catalyzes the addition of multiple malonyl CoA molecules, increasing the length of the fatty acid chain by the successive addition of 2 carbons until the desired length is

reached (43). The absolute contribution of this system to FA synthesis under general conditions is unclear and thought to be minimal in human adipose tissue as the energy requirement for FA production from carbohydrate is high (44, 45).

2.3. Lipolysis

Under conditions of increased energy demand (i.e. exercise) or energy restriction (i.e. fasting), the WAT mobilizes its intracellular TG stores to provide substrate to peripheral tissues for energy production. The breakdown of TG occurs in a stepwise manner, through a process known as lipolysis that culminates with the release of three FAs and one glycerol molecule (Figure 2). FAs serve as an important fuel used by tissues such as skeletal muscle, liver, and heart for energy production, while glycerol can be used by the liver to produce glucose through gluconeogenesis (24).

2.3.1. Hormonal regulation of lipolysis

The hydrolysis of adipose tissue TG is primarily regulated by catecholamines (adrenaline and noradrenaline) and the hormone insulin. The relative balance between stimulatory and inhibitory signals transmitted by these opposing agents in combination with the density of their respective receptors mediates the net breakdown of TG stores in WAT (46).



Floure 2. The lipolytic cascade. Adapted from Lafontan & Langin (47). Catecholamines bind to beta adrenergic receptors (B-AR) activating adenylate cvclase (AC) via stimulatory G-protein coupled receptors (Gs). This leads to a rise in the concentration of cyclic AMP (cAMP), which subsequently activates protein kinase A (PKA). PKA phosphorylates perilipin (PLIN) and hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) at multiple Serine (Ser) residues. Phosphorylation induces a conformational change in PLIN that releases comparative gene identification-58 (CGI-58) into the cytosol where it is free to co-localize with adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL), activating it. Activation of ATGL enhances hydrolase activity of this enzyme leading to the initial breakdown of TG producing DAG and a FA. Simultaneous phosphorylation of HSL at Ser569/660 and PLIN at Ser517 allow for the activation and translocation of HSL, with phosphorylated PLIN providing a docking site for increased access of HSL to the LD. HSL then catalyzes the catabolism of DAG producing monoacylglycerol (MAG) and an additional FA. The final step in the lipolytic cascade is the breakdown of MAG by MAG lipase liberating glycerol and the final FA. Conversely, catecholamines binding to alpha-2 adrenergic receptors (α_2 -AR) exert an inhibitory effect on lipolysis by preventing activation of AC through stimulation of inhibitory G-protein coupled receptors (Gi).

2.3.1.1. Catecholamines

Under fasting and exercise conditions, adrenaline and noradrenaline are released due to increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system. Adrenaline is a hormone secreted by the adrenal medulla and reaches the adipose tissue by way of the circulation (48). Noradrenaline is a neurotransmitter released by sympathetic neurons innervating the WAT (48). These catecholamines bind to multiple α/β adrenergic receptor (AR) subtypes located in the adipocyte PM (49). There are three β -ARs currently described. β_1 and β_2 are the predominant isoforms regulating lipolysis in human WAT while β_3 -AR is the main form responsible for lipolysis in rodents (49, 50). The binding of catecholamines to β adrenergic receptors leads to the activation of AC via Gs (47, 51). This increases formation of cAMP by AC, which activates PKA initiating the phosphorylation of key regulatory proteins involved in the hydrolysis of TG including HSL and PLIN (46-48, 51). In addition, WAT contains α -AR, specifically the α_2 isoform (α_2 -AR), which also bind catecholamines (49). Binding of catecholamines to the α_2 -AR elicits an antilipolytic response by inhibiting AC via activation of Gi, thus preventing the production of cAMP (51). Catecholamines preferentially bind to α_2 -AR over β-AR, this dual adrenoceptor function in WAT may serve to prevent unrestrained lipolysis from occurring under resting conditions (52). The dual receptor control of lipolysis in adipocytes is a species-specific phenomenon, since α_2 -ARs are present in human but not to a great extent in rat WAT (49).

2.3.1.2. Insulin

While β-AR stimulation is responsible for inducing lipolysis, counter regulation occurs primarily through the hormone insulin. Insulin is released by the pancreas in response to increased plasma glucose levels (i.e. post-prandially). Upon insulin binding to its receptor, a signaling cascade ensues leading to phosphorylation of Akt mediated by the activation of phosphoinsoitide 3 kinase (PI3K) (24). In turn, Akt phosphorylates phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE3B), which inactivates cAMP by converting it to 5'AMP (53). This inhibits lipolysis by preventing cAMP dependent activation of AC. Insulin has also been shown to inhibit lipolysis through an Akt-independent process. Researchers found that activating PI3K by insulin while blocking Akt lead to reduced phosphorylation of the lipid droplet protein PLIN, which lead to decreased stimulated lipolysis (54).

2.3.2. Molecular basis of lipolysis

Hydrolysis of adipocyte intracellular TG stores requires the orchestration of a number of lipases and lipid droplet associated proteins initiated by the β -AR signaling cascade. Ultimately, each ester bond attaching the 3 FAs to the glycerol backbone in a TG is cleaved sequentially by 3 major lipases: ATGL, HSL, and MAG lipase. TG catabolism is also regulated by the interaction of the rate limiting lipases ATGL and HSL with proteins present on the surface of the lipid droplet such as PLIN and CGI-58 (55).

2.3.2.1. ATGL

Originally, HSL was thought to be the primary lipase involved in neutral TG hydrolysis but research with HSL knockout models has shown that HSL is primarily responsible for the hydrolysis of DAG (56). More recently, ATGL has been credited for the initial FA release and formation of DAG as it was shown to have much higher specificity for TG compared to HSL (57). In addition, the enzyme has been identified specifically as a TG hydrolase, having 10-fold higher activity against TG versus DAG and no activity against other substrates (58). The role of ATGL in the initial step of TG catabolism has been confirmed by ATGL knock out models. Animals lacking this enzyme were shown to accumulate TG in multiple tissues while displaying severely blunted basal and stimulated lipolysis (59), Importantly, ATGL is regulated independently of HSL and is not a direct downstream target of PKA (58). ATGL is however under hormonal regulation through its activation by another protein, CGI-58 (60). It is postulated that under basal conditions, CGI-58 is co-localized with PLIN (58). Upon phosphorylation of PLIN through hormonal activation of the β -AR cascade, CGI-58 is able to dissociate from this PLIN and be released into the cytosol to activate ATGL (58). ATGL hydrolase activity has been shown to increase substantially (20-fold) when it is co-localized with CGI-58 (61). In addition, people with Chanarin-Dorfman Syndrome possessing mutated forms of CGI-58 display TG accumulation in multiple tissues also suggesting that CGI-58 is essential for ATGL activation (61).

2.3.2.2. HSL

HSL displays activity against a number of substrates including TG. DAG. MAG and cholesterol esters (62) and for a long time researchers believed it played the central role in TG breakdown. However, with the discovery of ATGL, it was found that HSL actually acts primarily as a DAG lipase with 11 and 5-10 fold higher activity against DAG versus TG and MAG, respectively (62, 63). Furthermore, animals lacking HSL show accumulation of DAG with normal T G levels, confirming that HSL is mainly responsible for DAG catabolism (56). Structural analysis of HSL revealed that the C-terminal catalytic domain houses the regulatory module containing all known phosphorylation sites of this lipase (62, 64). Of particular importance for hydrolytic activity of HSL is the phosphorylation of Serine residues 569 and 660 in the regulatory module, which have been shown through mutagenesis studies to be the major sites controlling enzymatic activity during lipolysis (65). The activation of these residues is under direct hormonal control via active PKA, but phosphorylation alone only increases catabolic activity moderately by approximately 2-fold (64). For full activity, the enzyme must translocate to the LD where it can better access lipid stores, a process that is mediated by the phosphorylation of the lipid droplet associated protein, PLIN (66). The phosphorylation and translocation of HSL in combination with activation of ATGL by CGI-58, results in a 100-fold increase in the hydrolysis of triglycerides (64). Another HSL phosphorylation site is the Serine 565 residue,

a target for active AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). Upon phosphorylation, Ser₅₆₅ exerts an antilipolytic effect by preventing subsequent phosphorylation of the lipolytic Ser₅₆₃ residue (41, 62). AMPK becomes activated due to an increased intracellular AMP:ATP ratio accompanied by an elevated rate of reesterification that is proportional to the increased liberation of FAs (41). This activation of AMPK as a consequence of lipolysis may be an important regulatory mechanism preventing unrestrained mobilization of FAs beyond what is required. However, there is skepticism surrounding the antilipolytic role of Ser₅₆₅ phosphorylation because the phosphorylation of Ser₅₆₃ is not essential to stimulate lipolysis (62). Following the HSL mediated breakdown of DAG, the final step in the lipolytic cascade is the catabolism of MAG by the constitutively active MAG lipase, releasing the final FA and the glycerol molecule (47).

2.3.2.3. Perilipin

The adipocyte LD was initially thought to be an inert storage reservoir for excess energy substrate but is now known to be a dynamic organelle that plays an important part in the regulation of fat metabolism (67). A LD enzyme with a central role in adipose tissue lipolysis is PLIN. In the adipocyte, PLIN exists mainly as the A isoform and contains multiple Serine residues for phosphorylation by activated PKA (68). Under basal conditions, PLIN is found on the surface of the lipid droplet co-localized with CGI-58. In this un-phosphorylated state, PLIN is

thought to provide a protective barrier to the LD, preventing degradation of TG stores by intracellular lipases (68, 69). Upon phosphorylation of the Ser₅₁₇ residue by PKA, PLIN mediates the action of both primary lipases involved in lipolysis (70). Phospho-PLIN (P-PLIN) induces a conformational alteration in the structure of the enzyme such that the co-localized protein CGI-58 is released into the cytosol to activate ATGL, facilitating a higher rate of TG breakdown (70). P-PLIN is also required for the full activity of HSL. The simultaneous phosphorylation of PLIN and HSL by PKA results in the translocation of HSL to the lipid droplet where PLIN provides a docking site so that HSL can access the lipid core (68). In addition to lipase regulation, phosphorylation of PLIN at Ser₄₉₂ after prolonged stimulation of the β -AR pathway causes dispersal and fragmentation of the lipid droplet (69, 70). This increases the surface area for lipase access to lipid, effectively increasing lipolysis.

2.4. Regional differences in adipose tissue metabolism

While the molecular mechanisms underlying the regulation of metabolic processes such as lipolysis are maintained throughout all white adipocytes, the rate and contribution to total body metabolism of these processes depends on the regional location of the cells. Adipocytes are widely dispersed throughout different tissues but the majority are contained within two compartments of adipose tissue: subcutaneous (SC) or visceral (VC). SC adipose tissue is found

just beneath the skin, while VC depots are located deeper, within the thorax and abdominal cavity closely associated with internal organs (14). Research has shown that it is the expansion of VC and not the SC adipose tissues that is related to the development of metabolic abnormalities, in this context the VC compartment has been described as a pathogenic fat depot (71). VC fat has been demonstrated to have a more lipolytic phenotype than SC fat, displaying an increased rate of lipolysis due to an enhanced catecholamine response and reduced insulin sensitivity (9). In humans, an enhanced catecholamine response can be attributed to a 10-20 fold increased sensitivity with a 2 fold increased density of β-AR in VC versus SC adipose tissue (72). In addition, a2 -AR sensitivity in human omental (VC) adipose tissue was shown to be 40 times lower than in gluteal (SC) adipocytes, thus exhibiting a reduced antilipolytic response to stimulated lipolysis in VC tissue (72). Since the VC depot is drained by the portal system, increased release of FAs by this tissue can directly affect liver metabolism and therefore contribute to metabolic dysfunction in this and other tissues (9, 10). Additionally, VC adipose tissue is less sensitive to the effects of the antilipolytic hormone insulin as compared to SC adipose tissue due to a reduced insulin receptor affinity and signal transduction (9). In contrast, the SC adipose depot exhibits a more lipogenic phenotype in which there are lower rates of FA mobilization due to a lower number of β -AR versus α_2 -AR (73). Also, adipocytes in the SC depot are more responsive to the antilipolytic effects of insulin (9). The regional differences in adipose tissue metabolism are relevant for understanding the regulatory mechanisms leading to increase metabolic risk specific to the presence of VC fat.

2.5. Exercise training and WAT metabolism

Given the evidence that VC fat deposition increases the risk for metabolic dysfunction (9, 71, 72), preventing or reversing visceral adiposity has been the logical route for disease prevention. In this context, a well accepted recommendation has been to utilize exercise as a means to control adiposity. Furthermore, endurance training has been shown to increase the use of fat as a substrate for energy generation by increasing the oxidative capacity of skeletal muscles (2, 3). This alteration in itself could be sufficient to reduce adipose stores; however, chronic endurance training has been shown to increase the utilization of fat sources located within the muscle with a proportionate reduction in utilization of adipose tissue-derived NEFAs (2-4, 74). While a shift towards greater FA oxidation of intramuscular TG (IMTG) is apparent with chronic exercise, the accompanying training induced adaptations in adipose tissue metabolism remain unclear. Many sources report enhanced stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes from endurance trained subjects that is attributed to alterations in the lipolytic cascade (4-6, 75, 76). For example, work by Nomura and colleagues demonstrated an increase in PKA and HSL activity accompanying enhanced stimulated lipolysis in the adipocytes of 9 week trained rats (75). Similarly, another investigation found that elevated adipose tissue lipolysis in swim-trained rats resulted from greater HSL sensitivity to adrenaline stimulation as well as depot specific increases in HSL protein content (77). Lipolysis has also been reported to be elevated at rest in trained individuals (78). In this study, elevated resting lipolysis was involved in increased TG-FA cycling, which was suggested to allow for redistribution of adipose FA stores to muscle, enhancing the potential for FA oxidation (78). Conversely, *in vivo* studies report either unchanged (79) or decreased rates of lipolysis after chronic endurance exercise (7). Martin and colleagues showed a reduced rate of appearance of glycerol and FA with an increase in total FA oxidation during exercise after a period of chronic training, suggesting that less substrate is being liberated from adipose tissue stores in the trained state during submaximal exercise (7).

While alterations in β -AR signaling have not been fully explored in the context of an observed decrease in lipolysis, other research has demonstrated that it may be the result of training induced reductions in catecholamine release (80). Research has shown that a reduced hormonal response to submaximal exercise is an adaptation that occurs relatively early on in the endurance training process (80). In addition to changes in hormonal release, other work has looked at training induced adaptations to hormonal sensitivity. Suda and colleagues found that while isolated adipocytes had an enhanced lipolytic response to AR

agonists after training, there was also increased responsiveness to the antilipolytic hormone insulin mediated through increased activity of phosphodiesterase (76). This may be one explanation for why a number of studies utilizing isolated adipocytes in the absence of insulin report enhanced lipolysis while *in vivo* work, which cannot eliminate the presence and effect of insulin, has shown reduced lipolysis after training. The inconsistencies found in the literature may also be due to differences in methodology related to exercise protocol or adipocyte preparation.

With respect to lipogenesis, Askew and colleagues showed that chronic exercise training did not alter resting rates of TG synthesis but rather suppressed rates only during acute exhaustive exercise (81). It was postulated that this effect may contribute to carbohydrate sparing that allows for greater exercise capacity in the trained state (81). In addition, other work described reduced G6PD activity in adipose tissue affecting TG synthesis only immediately after an exercise bout (82). In contrast, other studies have reported alterations in the adipocytes' ability to synthesize TG from glucose attributed to an effect of long term exercise training (83). Aside from debatable changes in TG storage with chronic exercise, others have found that reductions in adiposity imposed by exercise are mediated by a training induced inhibition of adipogenesis (84).

Overall, the multifaceted role adipose tissue plays in physiology has systemic implications on maintaining optimal metabolic functioning. As such,

alterations in the regulation of this organ can lead to metabolic disease (13) that appears to be, at least in part, ameliorated through the use of exercise therapy. Understanding how WAT metabolism is affected by chronic endurance training may be of great therapeutic relevance for the maintenance of health or correction of disease.

3. OBJECTIVES

Given the lack of conclusive findings in this research field, the aim of the current study is to determine the effects of chronic endurance exercise training on adipose tissue metabolism. The specific objectives of this investigation are:

- 1. To determine the effects of long-term endurance exercise training on the rate of basal and insulin-stimulated lipid synthesis in VC and SC adipocytes.
- 2. To determine the effects of chronic endurance training on basal and catecholamine-stimulated lipolysis in VC and SC adipocytes.
- 3. To determine the molecular mechanisms underlying the training-induced alterations in TG metabolism in VC and SC adipose tissues.

HYPOTHESES

Based on the fact that chronic endurance training increases energy expenditure and improves the ability of skeletal muscle cells to utilize their intracellular TG stores for energy production, it is hypothesized that:

- 1. Lipogenesis will be reduced in VC and SC adipocytes in response to chronic exercise training.
- 2. Basal and catecholamine-induced lipolysis in VC and SC adipocytes will be reduced by chronic endurance training.
- 3. Alterations in lipolysis will be caused by distinct regulation of ATGL, HSL, CGI-58 and PLIN activity under conditions of chronic exercise training.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1. Reagents

Isoproterenol, forskolin, FA-free bovine serum albumine (BSA), protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail, and free glycerol determination kit were obtained from Sigma. D-[U-¹⁴C] glucose was from Amersham. Specific antibodies against p-HSL, HSL, ATGL and β -actin were from Cell Signaling Technology, Inc. (Beverly, MA, USA), PLIN antibody was purchased from American Research Products, Inc (Waltham, MA, USA), p-PLIN antibody from Vala Sciences (San Diego, CA, USA), and β_3 -AR antibody from BioVision (Milpitas, CA, USA). All other materials used were of the best quality available.

4.2. Animals

Male albino rats (Wistar strain) weighing approximately 140-150g (upon commencement of the endurance training protocol) were housed at 22°C on a 12/12-hr light/dark cycle and fed standard laboratory chow *ad libitum* throughout the entire study. York University Animal Care Ethics Committee approved the experimental protocol.

4.3. Acclimatization, selection and exercise training process

Upon arrival, animals were permitted to acclimatize for one week followed by a one week selection process. For selection, animals were trained for up to 23 minutes per day for 4 consecutive days at a progressively increasing intensity (Appendix A). Inclusion into the study was based on the demonstration of willingness to run continuously beyond a minimum speed of 18 m/min. This approach has been extensively and successfully used previously in our lab. This was done to ensure that all animals participating were capable of completing the endurance exercise training protocol. The selected animals were then randomly divided into sedentary and exercise groups. The rats were endurance exercisetrained by running on treadmills (AccuScan Instruments, Inc., Columbus, OH, USA). Exercise was performed 5 days per week (Appendix B) with the duration of training gradually increasing to 65 minutes per session by the end of the second week. Intensity was progressively increased throughout each training session and over the course of the 6 week training period. Peak VO₂ was determined every 3 weeks by tests on treadmills connected to the Comprehensive Laboratory Animal Monitoring System (C.L.A.M.S.; Columbus Instruments, Inc., Columbus, OH, USA). This allowed for assessment of the training protocol efficacy and adjustment of training intensity as the animals' aerobic capacity improved.

4.4. Plasma analyses

Blood was collected by saphenous vein bleeding during the morning hours at rest and following sub-maximal exercise prior to initiation of the exercise training protocol (week 0) and following the completion of training weeks 3 and 6. Submaximal intensity was determined by calculations based on the maximal speed animals achieved in a graded treadmill test. For testing of maximal speed, animals warmed up for 5 minutes at a speed of 10 m/min followed by an increase in speed at a rate of 1 m/min every minute until the animal stopped running or could no longer keep up with the treadmill. The interval prior to the speed at which animals could no longer run was taken as their maximum. Animals were not fasted prior to the collection of blood samples. After collection, samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 4°C and plasma stored at -80°C for subsequent analysis of NEFAs (Wako HR Series NEFA-HR, VWR, Radnor, PA, USA), catecholamines (2-CAT ELISA, Rocky Mountain Diagnostics, Inc., Colorado Springs, CO, USA), corticosterone (Rat Corticosterone ³H Kit, MP Biomedicals, Solon, CO, USA) and lactate (Lactate Reagent, Trinity Biotech, Bray, Ireland) concentrations.

4.5. Experimental protocol and adipocyte isolation

In order to avoid the acute effect of exercise and assess the chronic effects of endurance training on adipose tissue metabolism, the animals were anesthetized (0.4 mg ketamine and 8 mg xylazine per 100 g body weight) 48 hours after the last training session. Previous experimentation has established 48 hours to be a sufficient amount of time for the reversal of metabolic changes induced by an acute exercise bout (85, 86). Inguinal and epididymal fat pads, the
former used as representative of SC and the latter of VC fat, were then extracted and weighed. A sample of each pad was taken to assess adipose tissue morphology and the remaining tissue used for adipocyte isolation as described previously (87-89). Briefly, the adipose tissue was finely minced in Krebs-Ringer Buffer (0.154M NaCl, 0.154M KCl, 0.11M CaCl₂, 0.154M MgSO₄, 0.154M KH₂PO₄, 0.154M NaHCO₃, pH 7.4) with 5.5mM glucose and 30 mM HEPES (KRBH) supplemented with type II collagenase (0.5 mg/ml). Adipocytes were then incubated at 37°C with gentle agitation (120 orbital strokes/min) for approximately 25-30 min. Digested tissue was strained using a nylon mesh and cells were transferred to 50 ml tubes to be carefully washed three times and resuspended in KRBH containing 3.5% BSA (KRBH-3.5% BSA). The height of lipocrit per 300 µl of cell suspension was determined and the average cell diameter was measured using a light microscope equipped with a micrometer ruler (90). This was done to determine the number of cells present in a given quantity of cell suspension (90) in order to ensure equal distribution of cells for each condition in the subsequent assays.

4.6. Assessment of adipose tissue morphology

Morphological analysis was performed using light microscopy as described by Gaidhu and colleagues with alterations (89). Upon extraction of the fat pads, a small sample (~100mg) was removed and fixed in 4%

paraformaldehyde, 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) for 24 hours at room temperature. After fixation, tissue samples were washed 3 times and stored in 70% ethanol. Samples were subsequently sent to the Toronto Centre for Phenogenomics (Toronto, ON, CA) where they were embedded in paraffin blocks, sectioned and processed for hemotoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining. Stained samples were viewed using a Nikon Eclipse TiE inverted microscope (Nikon Canada, Mississauga, ON, CA) under 20x magnification. Average adipocyte size was calculated by measuring the area of all adipocytes (minimum of 100) present in randomly selected fields of view. This was done to prevent the biased selection of cells for measurement. Area was determined by NIS-elements basic research imaging software (Nikon Canada, Mississauga, ON, CA) and images were captured with a digital Nikon DS-QI1Mc camera (Nikon Canada, Mississauga, ON, CA).

4.7. Determination of lipolysis

Lipolysis was measured by incubating adipocytes (2.5×10^5 cells) in the absence or presence of isoproterenol (10μ M), or forskolin (10μ M) in triplicate for 75 min at 37°C with gentle agitation (80 orbital strokes/min.). These agents were utilized in order to stimulate lipolysis by different mechanisms. Isoproterenol acts as a β -adrenergic agonist (91) while forskolin stimulates lipolysis by bypassing adrenergic receptors (92), activating adenylate cyclase directly (93). All

concentrations of lipolytic agents used in this study have been shown through previous experiments to be effective at stimulating lipolysis (41, 87, 88). After incubation, a 200 µl aliquot of media was taken and the glycerol concentration determined using a free glycerol determination kit (Sigma).

4.8. Incorporation of [U-14C]D-glucose into TGs

As an indication of lipogenesis, glucose incorporation into TG was determined by incubating 0.5 ml cell suspension (~ 2.5×10^5 isolated adipocytes) in 0.5 ml KRBH-3.5% BSA containing D-[U-¹⁴C] glucose (0.5 µCi/ml) with and without insulin (50 nM) for 1 hour at 37°C. Cells were subsequently lysed by the addition of 62.5 µl of H₂SO₄ (5N) terminating the processing of glucose into TG by the cells. Lipids were then extracted using Dole's Reagent (40:10:1 isopropylol:heptane: H₂SO₄ 1N) and heptane to determine radioactivity in the total lipid fraction by radioactive counter (94).

4.9. Determination of protein content and phosphorylation

To prepare tissue homogenates for analysis, fat depots (EPI and ING) were excised and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tissues were later homogenized in lysis buffer containing 135 mM NaCl, 1mM MgCl₂, 2.7 mM KCl, 20 mM Tris (pH 8.0), protease and phosphatase inhibitors (0.5 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 mM pepstatin, protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail), 1%

Triton, and 10% glycerol. Homogenates were centrifuged (20 min, 13200 rpm) and the infranatant containing proteins of interest was collected.

Adipocyte lysates were also prepared in a similar manner. Isolated adipocytes were incubated in the presence or absence of isoproterenol (10 µM) or forskolin (10 µM) for 30 minutes. After the incubation period, the cells were gently centrifuged (30 seconds, 1000 rpm) and the buffer containing lipolytic agents removed. Adipocytes were subsequently lysed by vortexing for 1 min in the buffer described above. Samples were centrifuged (20 min, 13200 rpm) and the infranatant containing proteins of interest collected. Protein concentrations of the tissue homogenates and adipocyte lysates were determined by the Bradford method (95). Final samples were diluted 1:1 (v/v) with 2x laemmli sample buffer, then subjected to SDS-PAGE before being transferred to polyvinylidene diflouride membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were subsequently probed with antibodies specific for phospho-HSL Ser660, Ser565, and Ser563 to detect phosphorylation of HSL, as well as phospho-PLIN Ser517 to determine phosporylation of PLIN. Total levels of HSL, PLIN, ATGL, CGI-58 and B3-AR were all evaluated similarly. All antibodies were diluted 1:1000 with the exception of phospho-PLIN (1:5000), PLIN (1:2000), CGI-58 (1:50,000) and β_3 -AR (1:300). β -actin was used to confirm equal loading of samples.

4.10. Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was assessed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) or two-way repeated-measures (RM) ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Comparisons were also made using unpaired t-test. Statistical significance was set at P<0.05.

5. RESULTS

5.1. Effects of chronic endurance training on peak VO₂ and adiposity

Peak VO₂ was 19% greater in the exercise group after 6 weeks of treadmill running compared to the sedentary animals ($3603 \pm 189.90 \text{ ml/kg/hr}$ vs. 4289 ± 106.20 ml/kg/hr for sedentary and exercise animals, respectively) (Fig. 3). There was no significant differences in peak VO₂ between groups at week 0 (5297 ± 352.30 ml/kg/hr in sedentary vs. 5392 ± 521.10 ml/kg/hr in exercise groups, not shown). There was an observed reduction in peak VO₂ from baseline to week 6 in both groups because the rate of change in VO₂ peak was not proportional to the more rapid rate of weight gain in the animals. Since VO₂ peak was normalized for body weight, the value decreased as the animals became larger.

To further characterize the training model, plasma corticosterone concentrations were assessed in samples obtained under resting conditions to ensure observed effects were not due to chronically elevated stress levels imposed by forced treadmill running. Corticosterone did not differ between groups at any measured time point (165.22 ± 48.13 ng/ml vs. 133.00 ± 71.65 ng/ml in week 0, 3.29 ± 0.52 ng/ml vs. 3.88 ± 0.58 ng/ml in week 3 and 18.23 ± 5.58 ng/ml vs. 20.27 ± 6.69 ng/ml in week 6 for sedentary and exercise animals, respectively) (Fig. 4). Furthermore, once animals were accustomed to handling (weeks 3 and 6), plasma concentrations of corticosterone were minimal and



Figure 3. Peak VO₂ in sedentary and endurance exercise groups after six weeks of training by treadmill running. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. N=10-14, *P<0.05 vs. sedentary (unpaired t-test).



Training Week

Figure 4. Plasma corticosterone concentration (ng/ml) from sedentary and exercise animals at rest during weeks 0, 3 and 6 of the exercise training protocol. N=7-8, *P<0.05 vs. respective week 0 (2-way ANOVA).

significantly less than levels at baseline. Corticosterone concentrations in weeks 3 and 6 were found to be similar to levels obtained in previous studies from resting male rats during the morning hours (96). This suggests that chronic elevation of stress was not induced by the forced running protocol.

The enhanced peak VO₂ observed in the exercise group during the last week of the training protocol was accompanied by a significantly lower (5%) body weight (399.10 \pm 17.50 g in sedentary vs. 380.40 \pm 21.80 g in exercise) (Fig. 5, A). This alteration in body weight could not be attributed to differences in food intake between the groups (Fig. 5, B). Changes in body weight were associated with alterations in adiposity (Fig. 6, A and B) as the EPI and ING adipose tissue depots were 18% and 10% smaller in trained animals versus sedentary controls (1.30 \pm 0.03 g vs. 1.06 \pm 0.03 g and 1.76 \pm 0.04 g vs. 1.58 \pm 0.03 g in EPI and ING depots, respectively).

5.2. Effects of chronic endurance training on adipose tissue morphology

While exercise training lead to a reduction in adiposity, the reduction cannot be fully accounted for by alterations in cell size (Fig. 7). Analysis of H&E stained adipose tissue revealed no significant differences in adipocyte size between sedentary and exercised animals ($1037 \pm 46.83 \ \mu m^2$ vs. 955.8 ± 31.04 μm^2 in EPI and 1299 ± 24.22 μm^2 vs. 1223 ± 266.0 μm^2 in ING depots of sedentary and exercise animals, respectively). These results were confirmed by



Figure. 5. Alterations in body weight (g) (A) could not be accounted for by differences in food intake (g/day/100g BW) (B) in sedentary and exercise-trained rats over 6 weeks of endurance exercise training. Body weight was taken on the last day of each week and food intake is the average daily intake calculated over the specified week of training normalized for body weight. Values are expressed as group mean \pm SEM. N=8, *P<0.05 vs. sedentary (2-way ANOVA).



Figure. 6. EPI (A) and ING (B) fat mass (g/100g BW) of sedentary and 6 week endurance trained rats. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. N=34-38, *P<0.05 vs. sedentary (unpaired t-test).



Figure 7. Representative H&E stained sections of adipose tissue (10x magnification) from EPI and ING depots in sedentary and exercise animals. No difference in average adipocyte area was noted, N=3.

measurements of isolated adipocyte diameter. No significant difference was noted in ING adipocyte diameter between sedentary and exercise groups (69.22 \pm 1.28 µm in sedentary vs. 66.60 \pm 1.56 µm in exercise groups) (Fig. 8, B). There was however an 8% reduction in the diameter of EPI adipocytes with exercise training (78.65 \pm 1.49 µm vs. 72.46 \pm 1.68 µm in sedentary and exercise groups, respectively) (Fig. 8, A). The disparity between measurements taken from tissue sections versus isolated adipocytes may be due to a small sample size of H&E stained tissue. In either case, the results support a small to insignificant difference in EPI adipocyte size with training that cannot fully account for the observed reduction in adiposity.



Figure 8. Average cell diameter as determined by the measurement of 100 EPI (A) and ING (B) isolated adipocytes per experiment in each group. Values are expressed as means \pm SEM. N=23, *P<0.05 vs. sedentary (unpaired t-test).

5.3. Effects of chronic training on the response to submaximal exercise

Animals ran for 20 minutes at 70-80% of their maximal speed followed by a blood collection. While groups did not differ in submaximal running speed during baseline (29.40 ± 1.83 m/min in sedentary and 33.04 ± 2.38 m/min in exercise-trained), exercise animals ran at a 1.3- and 1.4-fold higher speed compared to sedentary animals in weeks 3 and 6, respectively to account for an increased exercise capacity that accompanied training (28.03 ± 2.25 m/min vs. 36.30 ± 1.63 m/min in week 3 and 25.39 ± 2.92 m/min vs. 35.44 ± 3.06 m/min in week 6) (Fig. 9, A). This was done to ensure that animals were running at a equivalent intensity prior to blood collection. To confirm that the intensity was comparable between groups, plasma lactate was measured and found to be similar (3.58 ± 0.22 mM, 3.98 ± 0.32 mM, 3.92 ± 0.30 mM in sedentary and 4.15 \pm 0.32 mM, 3.08 \pm 0.36 mM, 3.71 \pm 0.50 mM in exercise-trained animals during weeks 0, 3 and 6 of training, respectively). In agreement with this finding, plasma adrenaline was not altered with training following the submaximal exercise bout (881.11 ± 121.21 pg/ml vs. 1056.98 ± 148.58 pg/ml in week 0, 1368.61 ± 201.10 pg/ml vs. 1290.62 ± 118.17 pg/ml in week 3, and 1282.21 ± 121.65 pg/ml vs. 1323.17 ± 221.03 pg/mL in week 6 in sedentary and exercised animals, respectively) (Fig. 9, C). Noradrenaline was also not different between groups $(1315.05 \pm 139.58 \text{ pg/ml}, 1052.59 \pm 57.16 \text{ pg/ml}, 881.11 \pm 73.66 \text{ pg/ml} \text{ in})$ sedentary and 1174.42 ± 206.74 pg/ml, 1242.12 ± 208.03 pg/ml, 1005.09 ±



Figure 9. Profile of running speed (70-80% of maximal speed) (A) and plasma NEFA (B), adrenaline (C) and noradrenaline (D) concentration for a 25 minute exercise bout. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. N=7-8, *P<0.05 vs. SED at respective time point, #P<0.05 vs. respective week 0 (2-way RM ANOVA).

165.73 pg/ml in exercise groups during weeks 0, 3 and 6, respectively) (Fig 9, D). With evidence that animals were running at a similar intensity, plasma NEFA concentrations were compared. There was a significant reduction from baseline to weeks 3 and 6 in trained animals following exercise but no difference was found between groups at any time point $(1.13 \pm 0.13 \text{ mM}, 0.98 \pm 0.12 \text{ mM}, 0.99 \pm 0.000 \text{ mM})$

0.08 mM in sedentary and 1.17 ± 0.11 mM, 0.76 ± 0.05 mM, 0.74 ± 0.04 mM in exercise groups during weeks 0, 3 and 6, respectively) (Fig. 9, B). Since these parameters were evaluated in the plasma, several factors related to other metabolic systems may have contributed to the observed effects. In this context, an *in vitro* model of adipocyte metabolism was assessed.

5.4. Effects of chronic training on lipolysis in isolated adipocytes

With unaltered adipose tissue lipolysis as indicated by similar plasma NEFA concentrations following submaximal exercise, the rate of stimulated lipolysis in isolated adipocytes was measured. Lipolytic rate was assessed through the determination of glycerol release over a 75 minute incubation period with a number of agents. Under non-stimulated (basal) conditions, the rate of glycerol release in EPI and ING adipocytes did not differ between groups (0.95 \pm 0.23 and 0.57 \pm 0.19 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells in EPI and 0.75 \pm 0.28 and 0.36 \pm 0.15 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells in ING for sedentary and exercise groups, respectively). With isoproterenol (10µM) stimulation, sedentary animals had an expected 52- and 51-fold increase in glycerol release in EPI and ING adipocytes (49.42 \pm 3.82 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells in EPI and 38.51 \pm 3.77 nm

cells in EPI and ING adipocytes, respectively). This equated to a 26% reduction in isoproterenol stimulated lipolysis in both EPI and ING adipocytes from exercise trained animals as compared to their sedentary counterparts (Fig. 10, A and B). In addition, sedentary animals demonstrated significantly elevated lipolysis in EPI versus ING cells with isoproterenol stimulation by 1.3-fold. Similarly, a 1.3-fold elevation in EPI compared to ING lipolysis was noted in exercise trained animals although the difference did not reach significance (P=0.07).



Figure 10. Glycerol release (nmol/75min/5x10⁵ cells) by EPI (A) and ING (B) adipocytes from sedentary and endurance exercise-trained rats under basal (vehicle) and isoproterenol (10 μ m) stimulated conditions. Measurements were taken in triplicate and values expressed as means ± SEM. N=12-13, *P<0.05, #P<0.05 vs basal condition (2-way ANOVA).

With a significant training induced reduction in lipolysis stimulated by a β -AR agonist, glycerol release was next assessed after adipocytes were incubated with forskolin (10 µm). Given that forskolin stimulates lipolysis bypassing the β -

AR, this was done to determine if a blunted lipolytic response was mediated by a post-receptor mechanism. As expected with forskolin stimulation, adipocytes from sedentary animals had a 21- and 17-fold increase in glycerol release per 75 minute incubation in EPI and ING adipocytes (from 1.34 ± 0.19 to 28.12 ± 5.98 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells in EPI and 1.57 \pm 0.50 to $26.26 \pm$ 7.32 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells in ING), respectively. In adipocytes from exercise trained rats there was a 19-fold (EPI) and 13-fold (ING) increase in lipolysis over basal values with forskolin stimulation (from 0.73 \pm 0.16 to 13.79 \pm 2.06 nmol/75 min/2.5x10⁵ cells and ING adipocytes, respectively). These values demonstrate a training induced reduction in lipolysis with forskolin stimulation by 51% in EPI adipocytes and a trend towards a 49% reduction in ING adipocytes (Fig. 11, A and B). This indicates that blunted lipolysis is, at least in part, mediated by a post-receptor mechanism in EPI adipocytes. There was no difference in lipolysis with forskolin stimulation between depots within a given group.

5.5. Assessment of molecular mechanisms regulating adipocyte lipolysis

With a reduction in forskolin stimulated lipolysis in exercise EPI adipocytes, various enzymes involved in the regulation of lipolysis were assessed for phosphorylation and/or content in tissue homogenates and adipocyte lysates. In EPI tissue, there was a 3.6- and 2.2-fold increase in ATGL



Figure 11. Glycerol release (nmol/75min/2.5x10⁵ cells) by EPI (A) and ING (B) adipocytes from sedentary and endurance exercise-trained rats under basal (vehicle) and forskolin (10 μ m) stimulated conditions. Measurements were taken in triplicate and values expressed as means ± SEM. N=4, *P<0.05, #P<0.05 vs. basal condition (2-way ANOVA).

and CGI-58 content, respectively (Fig. 12). This result would seem to indicate an elevated rate of lipolysis given that ATGL is a major lipase involved in TAG catabolism. Therefore, PLIN, an enzyme involved in the regulation of ATGL activity was assessed for content and phosphorylation at Ser₅₁₇ in stimulated lysates (Fig. 13). There was no difference noted between PLIN phosphorylation of EPI adipocytes under isoproterenol or forskolin stimulated conditions. No changes in the content of ATGL or CGI-58 were noted in ING tissue homogenates nor was there a significant change in the phosphorylation of PLIN between groups under any condition in this depot.



Figure 12. Representative western blots of ATGL and CGI-58 content in EPI and ING tissue homogenates from SED and EX animals (A). Quantification of ATGL (B) and CGI-58 (C) western blots from EPI homogenates corrected for β -Actin. Values are expressed relative to sedentary. N=7-9, *P<0.05 (unpaired t-test).



Figure 13. Representative western blot of total and phosphorylated (Ser₅₁₇) PLIN in adipocyte lysates under basal (B), isoproterenol (I) (10 μ M), and forskolin (F) (10 μ M) stimulated conditions in SED and EX rats. β -actin was used as a loading control, N=3.

The primary DAG hydrolase HSL was also evaluated for content and phosphorylation at the lipolytic Ser₅₆₃ and Ser₆₆₀ residues as well as the antilipolytic Ser₅₆₅ residue in adipocyte lysates. As expected, there was a marked increase in phosphorylation of HSL at Ser₅₆₃ and Ser₆₆₀ over respective basal conditions with isoproterenol stimulation and no change in phosphorylation of HSL at Ser₅₆₅. No significant difference in content or phosphorylation of HSL in adipocyte lysates was found between sedentary and exercise groups (Fig. 14). Similarly, forskolin stimulation did not significantly alter phosphorylation of HSL at Ser₅₆₅ but showed a marked increase in phosphorylation of Ser₅₆₃ and Ser₆₆₀ residues compared to respective basal conditions. There was no consistent difference in phosphorylation of any measured residue between sedentary and exercise animals in either depot (Fig. 15).

5.6. Glucose incorporation into TG

Since there was significantly less adiposity among exercise trained animals but a reduction in stimulated TG breakdown by adipocytes, the rate of lipogenesis was assessed to explore a potential explanation for the decrease in fat mass. TG synthesis was measured by evaluating the rate of glucose incorporation into TG in EPI and ING adipocytes after a 1 hour incubation in the presence and absence of insulin. After 6 weeks of endurance training, the incorporation of glucose into TG in EPI cells was reduced by 55% in basal and



Figure 14. Representative western blots of HSL content and phosphorylation at Ser₅₆₃, Ser₅₆₅ and Ser₆₆₀ in adipocyte lysates from sedentary (SED) and exercise (EX) animals under basal (B) and isoproterenol (I) stimulation (10 μ M). β -actin was used as a loading control, N=4-5.



Figure 15. Representative western blots of HSL content and phosphorylation at Ser₅₆₃, Ser₅₆₅ and Ser₆₆₀ in adipocyte lysates from sedentary (SED) and exercise (EX) animals under basal (B) and forskolin (F) stimulation (10 μ M), β -actin was used as a loading control, N=3.

50% in insulin stimulated conditions when expressed relative to the sedentary basal condition. ING adipocytes also demonstrated a 48% reduction in glucose incorporation into TG under insulin stimulated conditions only (Fig. 16, A and B).



Figure 16. Incorporation of glucose into TG by EPI (A) and ING (B) adipocytes from sedentary and exercise-trained rats during a 1 hour incubation with and without insulin (50 nm). Measures were taken in triplicate and values expressed as mean relative to sedentary basal \pm SEM. N=10-13, *P<0.05 vs. sedentary, #P<0.05 vs. respective basal condition (2-way ANOVA).

6. DISCUSSION

6.1. Chronic training effects on adipose tissue lipolysis

Previous studies have shown that after a period of chronic endurance exercise training there are reduced plasma catecholamine (80, 97) and NEFA (98) concentrations in response to exercise. In contrast to these findings, our study failed to detect a difference in these plasma parameters between sedentary and trained rats that exercised at the same relative submaximal intensity. The changes in NEFAs and catecholamines reported by previous studies may have been detected because measurements were taken after participants exercised at the same absolute workload during both pre and post training tests. This does not account for an increase in exercise capacity that develops with chronic endurance training. Therefore, reported reductions in catecholamine and NEFA release may simply be due to performing exercise at a lower intensity in the trained state. In the present study, changes in exercise capacity were accounted for as exercise trained animals ran at ~40% higher speed compared to the sedentary group during the final week of testing. Despite concentrations of plasma catecholamines and NEFAs not being significantly different between groups at any time point, we did find a decrease in NEFA levels over time in the exercise animals. This may be an indication of a reduction in adipose tissue lipolysis with training but there are numerous factors unrelated to adipose tissue metabolism that could have effected plasma NEFA concentrations. That is why we went further to investigate if lipolysis was altered specifically in adipocytes.

Previous studies have reported that chronic exercise training enhances glycerol release from adipocytes in response to stimulation by various lipolytic agents (4-6, 75, 76). This seems reasonable when considering that exercise training increases FA utilization by skeletal muscles (2, 3). Presumably, an increased demand for FA by the periphery could be met by elevated adipose tissue lipolysis. Other experiments, however, have demonstrated that while exercise training increases skeletal muscle FA oxidation, it also enhances utilization of intramuscular TG pools with a proportionate reduction in reliance on adipose tissue derived FA (2, 3, 7, 74). Given this finding, enhanced mobilization of TG from adjpocytes would be paradoxical. An increased release of FA from adipose tissue would then need to be accompanied by increased rates of reesterification to remove elevated levels of un-utilized FA from the plasma. This does not fit with observations from our study, as rates of glucose incorporation into TG by adipocytes was suppressed in the exercise trained group. Our finding would indicate reduced TG esterification in the trained state and this has been confirmed by other researchers (83).

In contrast to the above mentioned research reporting enhanced stimulated lipolysis with training, the present study demonstrated a reduction in isoproterenol stimulated glycerol release from adipocytes of EPI and ING fat pads. There was also a significant training induced attenuation of lipolysis in EPI adjpocytes with forskolin stimulation. Even though glycerol release appeared to be lower in ING cells in response to forskolin as well, the reduction failed to reach significance but this may have been due to a small sample size. This evidence suggests that chronic endurance training elicits blunted stimulated lipolysis in adjpose tissue that is regulated though changes in the adjpocytes' ability to respond to lipolytic agents. The discrepancy between reports of enhanced lipolysis and our observation of reduced lipolysis with training may be due to methodological differences related to exercise protocol or the length of time between the cessation of activity and adipocyte extraction. Martin and colleagues demonstrated that stimulated lipolysis decreases in trained individuals progressively with a few days of inactivity (99). This shows that depending upon when lipolysis is assessed, an enhanced catecholamine response may be due to an acute rather than chronic effect of exercise (100). To address this issue in the current study, adipocytes were extracted 48 hours following the last exercise training session.

6.2. Mechanisms governing training induced adaptations in lipolysis

The complex orchestration of numerous enzymes and proteins is required to effectively breakdown TG through lipolysis. As such, there are many levels of regulation in this cascade that could potentially mediate the observed training induced attenuation of glycerol release. With conflicting evidence in the literature regarding the overall lipolytic response to stimulation in the trained state, reports related to alterations in the β-adrenergic cascade are inconsistent. In one study, increased lipolysis in adipocytes from 9 week treadmill trained rats was observed and associated with elevated PKA and HSL activity (75). Similarly, others speculated that a training induced enhancement of lipolysis was mediated by a step distal to receptor binding and also likely due to increased PKA or lipase activity (4). There is currently little available information regarding the mechanism regulating training induced suppression of lipolysis. In one report by Chapados and colleagues, reduced stimulated lipolysis after training was found in high-fatfed rats (8). The only conclusion drawn related to molecular regulation of the βadrenergic cascade in this study was that the suppression in TG breakdown was not mediated by a change in PLIN content (8). The present study attempted to elucidate potential molecular mechanisms regulating the training induced blunting of lipolysis in adipocytes but the results were also inconclusive. A significant reduction in EPI glycerol release with forskolin stimulation was noted in adjpocytes from exercise trained animals. A trend towards decreased TG breakdown was also observed in the ING cells of these animals with this agent. This suggests that attenuation of lipolysis with training may be mediated by a post-receptor mechanism. However, alterations in β -AR sensitivity or density contributing to attenuated lipolysis cannot be ruled out. Attempts were made to quantify levels of β_3 -AR present in adipose tissue extracts but the results were inconclusive and further investigation is required.

With the observed changes in forskolin stimulated lipolysis, evaluation of the major lipases ATGL and HSL, along with their associated regulatory proteins PLIN and CGI-58 was conducted via western blot. In EPI fat, analysis of tissue homogenates indicated an up-regulation of ATGL and CGI-58 content in the exercise trained group. Given that ATGL is a primary TAG lipase and CGI-58 activation of ATGL results in increased TG breakdown (58), up-regulation of these proteins would seem to imply enhanced rather than suppressed lipolysis. Therefore, we looked at PLIN as this enzyme is co-localized with CGI-58 in its unphosphorylated state (58), indirectly interfering with CGI-58 activation of ATGL. Phospho-PLIN Ser517 was also measured because phosphorylation at this residue is involved in releasing CGI-58 to allow for activation of ATGL (58, 70). No consistent difference in content or phosphorylation of PLIN between sedentary and exercise animals was noted, implying that ATGL would be activated to the same extent in both groups. The up-regulation of ATGL content in the EPI depot of exercise trained rats does not seem to necessarily correspond with increased activity of this protein. In ING tissue, there was no consistent change in ATGL, CGI-58 or PLIN between groups.

HSL, the prominent DAG lipase was also assessed for content and phosphorylation at multiple Serine residues. Assessment of isolated adipocytes

52

indicated there was a marked increase in phosphorylation at the lipolytic Ser_{860/563} residues when stimulated by isoproterenol or forskolin. The drastic increase in phosphorylation of these sites correlates well with the elevation in lipolysis after incubation with stimulating agents. Even though it is apparent that HSL plays an important role in mediating lipolytic rate, there was no consistent change in phosphorylation of any evaluated residue between sedentary and exercise animals. While attenuation of lipolysis with training may not be mediated by changes in phosphorylation at Ser_{563/565/660}, another major lipolytic residue, Ser₅₆₉, could not be evaluated due to lack of a commercially available antibody. Therefore, a role for Ser₅₆₉ in mediating lipolytic alterations with exercise training could not be ruled out.

Overall, determination of the underlying mechanism regulating training induced attenuation of lipolysis remains to be elucidated by the assessment methods employed in this study. This is because many of the proteins that were evaluated have some degree of association with the lipid droplet, making total amounts of these proteins difficult to extract. While attempts were made to obtain the highest protein concentration possible, we cannot guarantee that equal amounts of the proteins of interest were extracted from each sample. Furthermore, proteins such as PLIN and HSL associate with the surface of the lipid droplet in a complex manner depending on β -AR activation. Stimulation of the lipolytic cascade leads to phosphorylation and translocation of HSL from the

53

cytosol to the lipid droplet where it is thought to doc with PLIN to better access TG stores (66). Since HSL translocates to the lipid only when phosphorylated (101, 102), there is greater potential to underestimate levels of the protein in this state. Furthermore, it has been suggested that phosphorylation of PLIN increases its susceptibility to extraction by fractionation procedures (103). This implies that un-phosphorylated PLIN is more likely to be underestimated due to incomplete protein extraction from the lipid fraction. Given that unphosphorylated PLIN has been shown to prevent lipases from accessing TG stores (68, 69), increased levels of un-phosphorylated PLIN may be a potential mechanism by which lipolysis is reduced in the trained state. Therefore, PLIN compartmentalization under stimulated conditions should be assessed in future studies.

6.3. Exercise mediated changes in adiposity

With a significant reduction in stimulated release of TG from adipose tissue, a reduction in adiposity seems counterintuitive. In an attempt to elucidate why animals in this study have significantly less EPI and ING fat tissue, we evaluated lipogenesis by measuring the incorporation of glucose into TG. Lipogenesis in EPI adipocytes was reduced with training under basal and insulin stimulated conditions and in ING adipocytes with insulin stimulation only. This indicates that alterations in adiposity with training may be facilitated by changes in the ability of adipocytes to store TG in addition to the creation of a negative energy balance via an exercise induced increase in energy expenditure. Our finding is consistent with other research reporting reduced glucose incorporation into TG in EPI adipocytes of 6-week swim trained rats (83).

While down-regulation of lipogenesis in adipocytes after chronic training can account for a reduction in fat mass, the reduced adiposity would theoretically result from decreased TG storage and ultimately smaller adjocytes. In our study, changes in adiposity with exercise training could not be accounted for by changes in adipocyte size. There was only a moderate reduction in EPI and no difference in ING adipocyte diameter in the trained group. Therefore, the observed changes in adiposity could be due to a reduced cell number in both depots of exercise animals. In this case, there would be less cells to accommodate the storage of FA in these animals. This limited number of cells would need to compensate by taking up more FA, leading to a similar cell size as what is seen in sedentary animals. While the effects of training on adipogenesis were not evaluated in our study, previous work by Sakurai and colleagues showed that 9 weeks of endurance exercise in rats lead to inhibition of adipocyte differentiation in the adipose tissue stromal-vascular fraction. This resulted in a 20% reduction in cell number (84). Further investigation will need to be done in order to determine if changes in cell number are mediating reduced adiposity with training in our model.

7. CONCLUSIONS

In this study, we demonstrated that after 6 weeks of chronic endurance exercise, rats displayed well established training-induced adaptations. These included enhanced VO₂ peak, reduced body weight, and decreased adiposity in both visceral and subcutaneous depots. Using an *in vitro* approach, we also demonstrated that chronic endurance training leads to increased exercise capacity without altering sympathetic or lipolytic activity. This was shown when rats running at the same relative submaximal speed displayed similar plasma concentrations of NEFA and catecholamines (adrenaline and noradrenaline).

With respect to adipocyte metabolism, we determined that chronic exercise leads to blunted isoproterenol stimulated lipolysis in both EPI and ING depots. Furthermore, a training induced reduction in lipolysis was evident in EPI adipocytes with forskolin stimulation suggesting mediation of this response by a post-receptor mechanism. A similar trend with forskolin stimulation was present in the ING depot but the difference did not achieve significance. Attempts to elucidate the molecular mechanism underlying reduced stimulated lipolysis with chronic exercise were unsuccessful but determined that ATGL, CGI-58, HSL and PLIN are likely not responsible.

Lipogenesis was also found to be reduced in the EPI depot under both basal and insulin stimulated conditions. In the ING depot lipogenesis was only reduced with insulin stimulation only. This could at least partially explain the significant reduction in fat mass observed with exercise training. Even though adiposity was reduced, only moderate to no reductions in cell size in both depots were found suggesting that chronic exercise training also led to a reduction in adipocyte cellularity.

Table 1. Summary of observations in epididymal and inguinal adipose tissue from 6 week endurance exercise trained animals compared to sedentary animals.

		EPIDIDYMAL	INGUINAL
Fat Mass		Reduced	Reduced
Cell Diameter		Reduced	Unchanged
Lipogenesis	s - Basal	Reduced	Unchanged
	- Insulin	Reduced	Reduced
Lipolysis	- Basal	Unchanged	Unchanged
	- Isoproterenol	Reduced	Reduced
	- Forskolin	Reduced	Unchanged
ATGL Content		Increased	Unchanged
CGI-58 Content		Increased	Unchanged
P-PLIN (Ser517)		Unchanged	Unchanged
P-HSL (Ser583/585/860)		Unchanged	Unchanged

8. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

8.1. Analysis of molecular mechanisms regulating lipolysis

Given that the current study was unsuccessful in identifying the regulatory step leading to reduced lipolysis in trained rats, further investigation to elucidate the responsible mechanism will be required. Of particular importance is the evaluation of adipose tissue adrenergic receptor density. Given that the reduction in forskolin stimulated lipolysis with chronic exercise failed to obtain significance in ING adipocytes, the training induced blunting of isoproterenol stimulated lipolysis may be mediated at the receptor level in this depot. Additionally, an alteration in β -AR density with training cannot be ruled out in EPI adipocytes. With inconclusive results obtained through western blot analysis of β_3 -AR content, quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) analysis can be an alternative way to assess receptor differences between sedentary and exercise animals.

In addition to assessing the content and phosphorylation of various enzymes involved in the lipolytic cascade, the cellular compartmentalization of these proteins should be determined because the function of some enzymes such as HSL and PLIN is partially dependent on their cellular location. This can be attempted through immunohistochemisty.

8.2. Analysis of mechanisms regulating lipogenesis.

To determine which lipogenic pathway is contributing to reduced TG synthesis with exercise training, DNL and TG esterification must be separately evaluated. To do this, TG extracted from adipocytes after a period of incubation with labeled glucose must be fractionated so that glucose incorporation into FA and glycerol can be differentially assessed. If lower levels of glucose are incorporated into FAs in exercise versus sedentary animals, then it is evident that DNL plays a significant role in mediating the reduced adiposity observed in this group. In this case, evaluation of major enzymes regulating the production of FA from glucose including ACC1 and FAS is warranted. This can be done using western blotting and should utilize adipocyte samples under both basal and insulin stimulated conditions, since insulin was shown to differentially effect the rate of TG synthesis between groups in both depots. Without a significant alteration in glucose incorporation specifically into FA, there would be a clear indication that the ability of adipocytes from trained animals to either: 1) produce alyceride-glycerol, 2) take up FA and/or 3) esterify FA to G3P is mediating changes in TG synthesis. To identify regulatory mechanisms mediating differences in glyceride-glycerol production, G3PD can be evaluated. This enzyme is responsible for the production of G3P from glucose to form the glycerol backbone of the TG (24). In the case of the ability of adipocytes to import FA, FABP1 and FAT/CD36 act as important FA transport proteins (32, 34, 35) and should be measured. A down-regulation of either one of these FA transporters may lead to reduced availability of FA in the cell for TG synthesis. Finally, to monitor changes in esterification of TG, enzymes responsible for the sequential esterification FAs to G3P can be evaluated include GPAT, AGPAT, PPH-1, lipin 1 and DGAT. All mentioned proteins involved in lipogenic pathways can be measured either through western blot or qPCR analysis.

9. REFERENCES

- 1. Wolfe RR, Klein S, Carraro F & Weber JM. Role of triglyceride-fatty acid cycle in controlling fat metabolism in humans during and after exercise. *Am J Physiol Endo* 1990; **258**: E382-E389.
- Hurley BF, Nemeth WH, Martin WH, Hagberg JM, Dalsky GP & Hollozy JO. Muscle triglyceride utilization during exercise: effect of training. J Appl Physiol 1986; 60: 562-567.
- 3. Holloszy JO & Coyle EF. Adaptations of skeletal muscle to endurance exercise and their metabolic consequences. *J Appl Physiol* 1984; **56**: 831-838.
- 4. Bukowiecki L, Lupien J, Follea N, Paradis A, Richard D, LeBlanc J. Mechanism of enhanced lipolysis in adipose tissue of exercise-trained rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 1980; **239** : E422-E429.
- 5. Riviere D, Crampes F, Beauville M & Garrigues M. Lipolytic response of fat cells to catecholamines in sedentary and exercise-trained women. *J Appl Physiol* 1989; **66**: 330-335.
- 6. Crampes F, Beauville M, Riviere D & Garrigues M. Effects of physical training in humans on the response of isolated fat cells to epinephrine. *J Appl Physiol* 1986; **61**: 25-29.
- 7. Martin WH, Dalsky GP, Hurley BF, Matthees DE, Bier DM, Hagberg JM, Rogers MA, King DS & Holloszy JO. Effects of endurance training on plasma free fatty acid turnover and oxidation during exercise. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 1993; **265**: E708-E714.
- 8. Chapados N, Collin P, Imbeault, Corriveau P & Lavoie JM. Exercise training decreases in vitro stimulated lipolysis in a visceral (mesenteric) but not retroperitoneal fat depot of high-fat-fed rats. *Br J Nutr* 2008; **100**: 518-525.
- 9. Arner P. Not all fat is alike. Lancet 1998; 351:1301-1302.
- 10. Bergman RN, Kim SP, Catalano KJ, Hsu IR, Chiu JD, Kabir M, Hucking K & Ader M. Why visceral fat is bad: mechanisms of the metabolic syndrome. *Obesity* 2006; **14**: 16S-19S.

- 11. Trayhum P & Beattie JH. Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. *Proc Nutr Soc* 2001; 60: 329-339.
- 12. Yu YH & Ginsberg HN. Adipocyte signaling and lipid homeostasis. *Circ Res* 2005; **96**: 1042-1052.
- 13. Cinti S. 2007. The adipose organ. In: Fantuzzi G, Mazzone T, editor. Adipose Tissue and Adipokines in Health and Disease. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press Inc. 3-19.
- 14. Rosen ED & Spiegelman BM. Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. *Nature* 2006; **444**:847-853.
- 15. Duncan RE, Ahmadian M, Jaworski K, Sarkadi-Nagy E & Sul HS. Regulation of lipolysis in adipocytes. *Annu Rev Nutr* 2007; **27**: 79-101.
- Coleman RA, Lewin TM & Muoio DM. Physiological and nutritional regulation of enzymes of tryacylglycerol synthesis. *Annu Rev Nutr* 2000; 20: 77-103.
- 17. Nye C, Kin J, Kalhan S & Hanson RW. Reassessing triglyceride synthesis in adipose tissue. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 2008; **19**: 356-361.
- 18. Wendel AA, Lewin TM & Coleman RA. Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases: rate limiting enzymes of triacylglyerol biosynthesis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 2009; **1791**: 051-506.
- 19. Chan JM, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stamper MJ & Willett WC. Obesity, fat distribution and weight gain as tisk factors for clinical diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care* 1994; 17: 961-969.
- 20. Tan GD, Debrad C, Tiraby C, Humphreys SM, Frayn KN, Langin D, Vidal H & Karpe FI. A "futile cycle" induced by thiazolidinediones in human adipose tissue?. *Nat Med* 2003; **9**: 811-812.
- 21. Steinberg D, Vaughan M & Margoilis S. Studies of triglyceride biosynthesis in homogenates of adipose tissue. *J Biol Chem* 1961; **236**: 1631-1637.
- 22. Bublitz C & Kennedy EP. Synthesis of phosphatides in isolated mitochondria III. THe enzymatic phosphorylation of glycerol. *J Biol Chem* 1954; **211**: 951-961.
- Guan H, Li Y, Jensen MV, Newgard CB, Steppan CM & Lazar MA. A futile cycle activated in adipocytes by antidiabetic agents. *Nat Med* 2002; 8: 1122-1128.
- 24. Salway JG. Metabolism at a Glance. Blackwell Publishing, Massachusetts; 2004.
- Reshef L, Olswang Y, Cassuto H, Blum B, Croniger CM, Kalhan SC, Tilghman SM & Hanson RW. Glyceroneogenesis and the triglyceride/ fatty acid cycle. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 30413-30416.
- Beale EG, Hammer RE, Antoine B & Forest C. Glyceroneogenesis comes of age. FASEB 2002; 16: 1695-1696.
- 27. Hanson RW & Reshef L. Glyceroneogenesis revisited. *Biochimie* 2003; 85: 1199-1205.
- Botion LM, Brito MN, Brito NA, Brito SR, Kettelhut IC & Miglioini. Glucose contribution to in vivo synthesis of glyceride-glycerol and fatty acids in rats adapted to a high-protein, carbohydrate free diet. *Metabolism* 1998; 47: 1217-1221.
- 29. Large V, Peroni O, Letexier D, Ray H & Beylot M. Metabolism of lipids in human white adipocyte. *Diabetes Metab* 2004; **30**: 294-309.
- 30. Nilsson-Ehle. Lipolytic enzymes and plasma lipoprotein metabolism. Ann Rev Biochem 1980; 49: 667-693.
- Ruge T, Hodson L, Cheeseman J, Dennis AL, Fielding BA, Humphreys SM, Frayn KN & Karpe F. Fasted to fed trafficking of fatty acids in human adipose tissue reveals a novel regulatory step for enhanced fat storage. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 209; 94: 1781-1788.
- 32. Gonzales AM & Orlando RA. Role of adipocyte-derived lipoprotein lipase in adipocyte hypertrophy. Nutrition and Metabolism 2007; 4: 22-30.
- 33. Auwerx J, Leroy P & Schoonjans K. Lipoprotein lipase: recent contributions from molecular biology. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 1992; **29**: 243-268.
- 34. Hajri T & Abumrad NA. Fatty acid transport across membrances: relevance to nutrition and metabolic pathology. *Annu Rev* 2002; **22**: 383-415.
- 35. Sfeir Z, Ibrahimi A, Amri E, Grimaldi P & Abumrad N. Regulation of FAT/ CD36 gene expressionL further evidence in support of a role if the

protein in fatty acid binding/transport. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 1997; 57: 17-21.

- Aitman TJ, Glazier AM, Wallace CA, Cooper LD, Norsworthy PJ, Wahid FN, Al-Majali KM, Trembling PM, Mann CJ, Shoulders CC, Graf D, St. Lezin E, Kurtz TW, Kren V, Pravenec M, Ibrahimi A, Abumrad NA, Stanton LW & Scott J. Idenificatino of Cd36 (Fat) as an insulin resistance gene causing defective fatty acid and glucose metabolism in hypertensive rats. Nat Genet 1999; 21: 76-83.
- 37. Hammond VA & Johnston DG. Substrate cycling between triglyceride and fatty acid in human adipocytes. *Metabolism* 1987; **36**: 308-313.
- Brooks BJ, Arch JRS & Newsholme EA. Effect of some hormones on the rate of the triacylglycerol/fatty-acid substrate cycle in adipose tissue of the mouse in vivo. *Biosci Rep* 1983; 3: 263-267.
- Kalderon B, Mayorek N, Berry E, Zevit N & Bar-Tana J. Fatty acid cycling in the fasting rat. Am J Physiol 1999; 279: E221-E227.
- 40. Rognstad R & Katz J. The balance of pyridine nucleotides and ATP in adipose tissue. *Proc N A S* 1966; **55**: 1148-1155.
- Gauthier MS, Miyoshi H, Souza SC, Cacicedo JM, Saha AK, Greenburg AS & Ruderman NB. AMP-activated protein kinase is activated as a consequence of lipolysis in the adipocyte: potential mechaism and physiological relevance. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 13: 16514-16524.
- 42. Wang Y, Voy JB, Urs S, Kim S, Soltani-Bejnood M, Quigley N, Heo YR, Standridge M, Anderson B, Dhar M, Joshi R, Wortman P, Taylor JW, Chum J, Leuze M, Claycombe K, Saxton AM & Moustaid-Moussa N. The human fatty acid synthase gene and de novo lipogenesis are coordinately regulated in human adipose tissue. J Nutr 2004; 134: 1032-1038.
- 43. Reizman H. The long and short of fatty acid synthesis. Cell 2007; 130: 587-588.
- 44. Shargo W, Spennetta T, Gordon E. Fatty acid synthesis in human adipose tissue. J Biol Chem 1969; 244: 2761-2766
- 45. Hellerstein MK. De novo lipogenesis in humans: metabolic and regulatory aspects. *Euro J Clin Nutr* 1999; **53**: S53-S65.

- 46. Horowitz JF & Klein S. Lipid metabolism during endurance exercise training. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; **52**: 558S-5563S.
- 47. Lafontan M & Langin D. Lipolysis and lipid mobilization in human adipose tissue. *Prog Lipid Res* 2009; **48**: 275-297.
- 48. Jaworski K, Sarkadi-Nagy E, Duncan RE, Ahmadian M & Sul HS. Regulation of triglyceride metabolism. IV. Hormonal regulation of lipolysis in adipose tissue. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2007; 293: G1-G4.
- 49. Arner P. Adrenergic receptor function in fat cells. Am J Clin Nutr 1992; 55: 228S-236S.
- 50. Langin D. Control of fatty acid and glycerol release in adipose tissue lipolysis. C R Biologies 2006; **329**: 598-607.
- 51. Lafontan M, Barbe P, Galitzky J, Tavernier G, Langin L, Carpene C et al. Adrenergic regulation of adipocyte metabolism. *Hum Reprod* 1997; **12**: 6-20.
- 52. Arner P, Kriegholm E, Engfeldt P & Bolinder J. Adrenergic regulation of lipolysis in situ at rest and during exercise. *J Clin Invest* 1990; 85: 839-898.
- 53. Kitamura T, Kitamura Y, Kuroda S, Hino Y, Ando M et al. Insulin-induced phosphorylation and activation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3B by the serine-threonine kinase Akt. *Mol Cell Biol* 1999; **19**: 6286-6296.
- 54. Choi SM, Tucker DF, Gross DN, Easton RM, Di Pilato LM et al. Insulin regulates adipocyte lipolysis via an Akt-independent signaling pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* 2010; **30**: 5009-5020.
- 55. Schweiger M, Schreiber R, Haemmerle G, Lass A, Fledelius C, Jacobsen P, Tornqvist H, Zechner R & Zimmermann R. Adipose triglyceride lipase and hormone sensitive lipase are the major enzymes in adipose triglyceride catabolism. *J Biol Chem* 2006; **281**: 40236-40241.
- Haemmerle G, Zimmermann R, Hayn M, Theussl C, Waeg G, Wagner E et al. Hormone-sensitive lipase deficiency in mice causes diglyceride accumulation in adipose tissue, muscle, and testes. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277: 4806-4815.

- 57. Zechner R, Kienesberger PC, Hammerle G, Zimmermann R & Lass A. Adipose triglyceride lipase and the lipolytic catabolism of cellular fat stores. *J Lipid Res* 2009; **50**: 3-21.
- 58. Zimmermann R, Lass A, Haemmerle G & Zechner R. Fate of fat: the role of adipose triglyceride lipase in lipolysis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 2009; **1791**: 494-500.
- Haemmerle G, Lass A, Zimmermann R, Gorkiewicz G, Meyer C, Rozman H, Heldmaier G, Maier R, Theussl C, Eder S, Kratky D, Wagner EF, Klingenspor M, Hoefler G & Zechner R. Defective lipolysis and altered energy metabolism in mice lacking adipose triglyceride lipase. *Science* 2006; **312**: 734-737.
- 60. Schweiger M, Schreiber R, Haemmerle G, Lass A, Fledelius C, Jacobsen P Tornqvist H, Zechner R & Zimmermann R. Adipose triglyceride lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase are the major enzymes in adipose triacylglycerol catabolism. *J Biol Chem* 2005; **281**: 40236-40241.
- Lass A, Zimmermann R, Haemmerle G, Reiderer M, Schoiswohl G, Schweiger M, Lienesberger P, Strauss JG, Gorkiewicz G & Zechner R. Adipose triglyceride lipase-mediated lipolysis of cellular fat stores is activated by CGI-58 and defective in Chanarin-Dorfman syndrome. *Cell Metab* 2006; 3: 309-319.
- Holm C, Osterlund T, Laurell H & Contreras J. Molecular mechanisms regulating hormone-sensitive lipase and lipolysis. *Annu Rev Nutr* 2000; 20: 365-393.
- 63. Fredrikson G, Stralfors P, Nilsson NO, Belfrage P. Hormone sensitive lipase from adipose tissue of rat. *Methods Enzymol* 1981; **71**: 636-646.
- 64. Zechner R, Zimmermann R, Eichmann TO, Kohlwein SD, Haemmerle G et al. FAT SIGNALS Lipases and lipolysis in lipid metabolism and signaling. *Cell Metab* 2012; **15**: 279-291.
- 65. Anthonsen MW, Ronnstrand L, Wernstedt C, Degerman E & Holm C. Identification of novel phosphorylation sites in homone-sensitive lipase that are phosphorylated in response to isoproterenol and govern activation properties in vitro. *J Biol Chem* 1998; **273**: 215-221.
- 66. Tansey JT, Sztalryd C, Hlavin EM, Kimmel AR & Londos C. The central role of perilipin A in lipid metabolism and adipocyte lipolysis. *IUBMB Life* 2004; **56**: 379-385.

- 67. Dugail I & Hajduch E. A new look at adipocyte lipid droplets: towards a role in the sensing of triacylglycerol stores?. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2007; 64: 2452-2458.
- Brasaemle D. The perilipin family of structural lipid droplet proteins: stabilization of lipid droplets and control of lipolysis. *J Lipid Res* 2007; 48: 2547-2559.
- 69. Londos C, Brasaemle DL, Schultz CJ, Segrest JP, Kimmel AR. Perilipins, ADRP, and other proteins that associate with intracellular neutral lipid droplets in animal cells. Semin Cell Dev Bio 1999; 10:51-58
- Miyoshi H, Perfield JW, Souza SC, Shen WJ, Zhang HH, Stancheva ZS, Kraemer FB, Obin MS & Greenberg AS. Control of adipose triglyceride lipase action by serine 517 of perilipin A globally regulates protein kinase A-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes. J Biol Chem 2007; 282: 996-1002.
- 71. Fox CS, Massaro JM, Hoffman U, Pou KM, Maurovich-Horvat P, Liu CY, Vasan RS, Murabito JM, Meigs JB, Cupples A, D'Agostino, RB & O'Donnell CJ. Abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments association with metabolic risk factors in the framingham heart study. *Circulation* 2007; **116**: 39-48.
- 72. Wahrenberg H, Lonnqvist F & Arner P. Mechanisms underlying regional differences in lipolysis in human adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* 1989; 84: 458-467.
- Mauriege P, Galitzky J, Berlan M & Lafontan M. Heterogeneous distribution of beta and alpha-2 adrenoceptor binding sites in human fat cells from various fat deposits: functional consequences. *Euro J Clin Invest* 1987; 17: 156-165.
- 74. Phillips SM, Green HJ, Tarnopolsky MA, Heigenhauser GJF, Hill RE & Grant SM. Effects of training duration on substrate turnover and oxidation during exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 1996; **81**: 2182-2191.
- 75. Nomura S, Kawanami H, Ueda H, Kizaki Y, Ohno H & Izawa T. Possible mechanism by which adipocyte lipolysis is enhanced in exercise-trained rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2002; **295**: 236-242.
- 76. Suda K, Izawa T, Komabayashi T, Tsuboi M & Era S. Effect of insulin on adipcyte lipolysis in exercise-trained rats. *J Appl Physiol* 1993; 74: 2935-2939.

- 77. Enevoldsen LH, Stallknecht B, Langfort J, Petersen LN, Holm C, Ploug r & Galbo H. The effects of exercise training on hormone-sensitive lipase in rat intra-abdominal adipose tissue and muscle. *J Phisiol* 2001; **536**: 871-877.
- 78. Romijn JA, Klein EF, Coyle EF, Sidossis LS & Wolfe RR. Strenuous endurance training increases lipolysis and triglyceride-fatty acid cycling at rest. *J Appl Physiol* 1993; **75**: 108-113.
- 79. Horowitz JF, Braudy RJ, Martin WH & Klein S. Endurance exercise training does not alter lipolytic or adipose tissue blood flow sensitivity to epinephrine. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 1999; **277**: E325-E331
- 80. Winder WW, Hagberg JM, Hickson RC, Ehsani AA & McLean JA. Time course of sympathoadrenal adaptation to endurance exercise training in man. *J Appl Physiol: Respirat Environ Exercise Physiol* 1978; **45**: 370-374.
- 81. Askew EW, Dohm GL, Doub WH, Huston RL & Van Natta PA. Lipogenesis and glyceride synthesis in the rat: response to diet and exercise. *J Nutr* 1975; **105**: 190-199.
- Askew EW, Dohm GL, Doub WH, Huston RL & Van Natta PA. Lipogenesis and glyceride synthesis in the rat: response to diet and exercise. J Nutr 1975; 105: 190-199.
- 83. Kral JG, Jacobsson B, Smith U & Bjorntorp P. The effects of physical exercise on fat cell metabolism in the rat. *Acta Physiol Scand* 1974; 90: 664-672.
- Sakurai T, Endo S, Hatano D, Ogasawara J, Kizaki T, Oh-ishi S, Izawa T, Ishida H & Ohno H. Effects of exercise training on adipogenesis of stromal-vascular fraction cells in rat epididymal white adipose tissue. *Acta Physiol* 2010; 200: 325-338.
- 85. Holloszy JO. Exercise-induced increase in muscle insulin sensitivity. *J Appl Physiol* 2005; **99**: 338-343.
- Thompson PD, Crouse SF, Goodpaster B, Kelley S, Moyna N & Pescatello L. The acute versus the chronic response to exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2001; 33: S438-S445.

- 87. Anthony NM, Gaidhu MP & Ceddia RB. Regulation of visceral and subcutaneous adipocyte lipolysis by acute AlCAR-induced AMPK activation. *Obesity* 2009; **17**: 1312-1217.
- Baidhu MP, Anthony NM, Patel P, Hawke TJ & Ceddia RB. Dysregulation of lipolysis and lipid metabolism in visceral and subcutaneous adipocytes by high fat diet: role of ATGL, HSL, and AMPK. Am J Physiol 2010; 298: C961-C971.
- 89. Gaidhu MP, Frontini A, Hung S, Pistor K & Ceddia RB. Chronic AMP-kinase activation with AICAR reduces adiposity by remodeling adipocyte metabolism and increasing leptin sensitivity. *J Lipid Res* 20111 **52**: 1702-1711.
- 90. Fine JB, DiGirolamo M. A simple method to predict cellular density in adipocyte metabolic incubations. Int J Obes Relat Disord 1997; 21: 764-768.
- 91. Alquist RP. Present state of apha- and beta-adrenergic drugs I. The adrenergic receptor. Am Heart J 1976; 92: 661-664.
- 92. Lafontan M, Barbe P, Galitzky J, Tavernier G, Langin L, Carpene C, Bousquet-Melou A & Berlan M. Adrenergic regulation of adipocyte metabolism. *Hum Reprod* 1997; 12: 6-20.
- 93. Litosch I, Hudson TH, Mills I, Li SY & Fain JN. Forskolin as an activator of cyclic AMP accumulation and lipolysis in rat adipocytes. *Mol Pharmacol* 1982; 22: 109-115.
- 94. Dole VP & Meinertz H. Microdetermination of long-chain fatty acids in plasma and tissues. *J Biol Chem* 1960; **235**: 2595-2599.
- 95. Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein using the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analyt Biochem* 1976; **72**: 248-254.
- 96. Atkinson HC & Waddell BJ. Circadian variation in basal plasma corticosterone and adrenocorticotropin in the rat: sexual dimorphism and changes actoss the estrous cycle. *Endocrinology* 1997; **138**: 3842-3848.
- 97. Hartley LH, Mason JW, Hogan RP, Jones LG, Kotchen TA, Mougey EH, Wherry FE, Pennington LL & Ricketts PT. Multiple hormonal responses

to prolonged exercise in relattion to physical trianing. *J Appl Physiol* 1972; **33**: 607-610.

- 98. Martin WH, Dalsky GP, Hurley BF, Matthews DE, Bier DM, Hagberg JM, Rogers MA, King DS & Holloszy JO. Effects of endurance training on plasma free fatty acid turnover and ocxidation during exercise. Am J Physiol 1993; 256: E708-E714.
- Martin WH, Coyle EF, Joyner M, Santeusanio D, Ehsani AA & Holloszy JO. Effects of stopping exercise training on epinephrine-induced lipolysis in humans. J Appl Physiol 1984; 56:845-848.
- 100.Martin WH. Effects of acute and chronic exercise on fat metabolism. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 1996; 24: 203-231.
- 101.Eagan JJ, Greenberg AS, Chang MK, Wek SA, Moos MC & Londos C. Mechanism of hormone-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes: translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase to the lipid storage droplet. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1992; **89**: 8537-8541.
- 102.Kraemer FB & Shen WJ. Hormone sensitive lipase: control of intracellular tri-(di-)acylglycerol and cholesteryl ester hydrolysis. *J Lipid Res* 2002; **43**: 1585-1594.
- 103.Clifford GM, Londos C, Kraemer FB, Vernon RG & Yeaman SJ. Translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase and perilipin upon lipolytic stimulation of rat adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* 2000; **275**: 5011-5015.

10. APPENDICES

10.1. Appendix A: Exercise protocol for animal selection

Table A1: Protocol utilized for baseline selection of animals into the study.

Time (min)	Speed (m/min)	inclination (%)
0	10	0
5	14	5
7	16	10
9	18	10
11	20	10
13	22	10
15	24	10
17	26	10
19	28	10
21	30	10
23		

10.2. Appendix B: Six week treadmill exercise protocol

Table A2: Protocol for daily treadmill training. Length of time (min) indicated for each speed (m/min). Inclination remained constant (10%) in each session.

Week	Day	Speed (m/min)								Total				
		10	12	14	16	18	20	22	24	26	28	30	32	(min)
1	1	5	5	10	10						—			30
	2	5	5	10	10	—		—					—	30
	3	5	5	20	10			—	—					40
	4 8	5	5	20	15							—	-	45
	5	5	5	20	15	5						—		50
2	1	5		25	15	10	—						-	55
	2	5		15	15	15	5							55
	3	5		15	15	15	10	—						60
	4	5		15	15	15	15							65
	5	5		10	15	15	20		l		—			65
	- 1	5		5	15	15	25				—			65
	2	5		5	15	15	20	5			—		—	65
3	3	5		5	10	15	20	5	5					65
	4	5		5	10	10	20	10	5	—	<u> </u>			65
	5	VO ₂	PEAK	: / M A)	X SPE	EED T	ESTI	NG						
	1		5	5	5	5	15	15	10	5			—	65
4	2		5	5	5	5	15	15	10	5			—	65
	3		5	5	5	5	15	15	10	5				65
	. 4		5	5	5	5	10	10	10	10	5			65
	5		5	5	5	5	10	10	10	10	5		-	65
5	1		5	5	5	5	10	10	15	5	5		-	65
	2		5	5	5	5	10	10	10	10	5		—	65
	3		5	5	5	5	10	10	15	5	5			65
	4		5	5	5	5	10	10	15	5	5			65
	5	-	5	5	5	5	10	10	15	5	5			65
6	1		5		5	5	5	10	15	10	5	5		65
	2		5		5	5	5	10	10	10	10	5		65
	3		5		5	5	5	10	10	10	5	5	5	65
	4	—	5		5	5	5	10	10	10	5	5	5	65
	5	VO ₂	PEAK	/ MA	X SPE	EED T	ESTI	NG						—